FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/9/2021 3:32 PM

100197-5

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/10/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 81075-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION 1

DEIRTRA WILLIAMS, as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF DEIDRA L. CLARK; A.M.C., a minor child; DEIRTRA CLARK, a single person; NORMAN DEVOE, a single person; R.E.A., a minor child,

Appellants,

v.

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Deirtra Williams, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Deidra L. Clark, A.M.C, a minor child, Deirtra Clark, Norman DeVoe and R.E.A., a minor child. Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeal's Opinion which affirmed the trial court's summary dismissal of Petitioners' negligence claims against King County—the negligence of which resulted in Deidra Clark being crushed to death by a fallen tree in front of her four-year-old daughter. The tree that killed Deidra Clark was the *seventh* tree to fall in Petitioners' heavily populated Renton, Washington neighborhood in a matter of months, and the *fourth* tree to fall in a matter of days.

On November 13, 2017, Deidra Clark was driving home through her neighborhood on SE 179th Street, a busy public right-of-way in King County. Deidra's twin sister, Deirtra Clark, was in the front passenger seat. Deidra's four-year-old daughter, A.M.C., was in her child safety seat in the rear driver side seat. As Deidra slowed to make a left turn near her house, a severely diseased black cottonwood tree—that was leaning dangerously over SE 179th Street and had visible signs of decay from the County right-of-way—snapped twelve feet up from the ground. The tree fell completely across the County road and smashed down on top of the vehicle. The impact of the tree killed Deidra. Emergency responders had to use the "jaws of life" to extract Deirtra. Once extricated, Deirtra was intubated and transported to Harborview Medical Center as a full trauma code. She remained in the ICU

for ten days. A.M.C. somehow survived the impact, but she witnessed first-hand the gruesome death of her mother. ¹

King County had a duty to maintain the roadway in a reasonably safe manner. This duty extended to trees falling across County roads upon actual or constructive notice of the dangerous condition posed by the subject tree, or if the dangerous condition was foreseeable. Here, there is substantial evidence of both notice and foreseeability. Such evidence includes the following:

- The tree was leaning dangerously over a public right-of-way in a developed residential area of Renton, Washington;
- The leaning tree had visible signs of disease for years;
- The County knew black cottonwoods were an inherently dangerous species of tree;
- The County was in the immediate vicinity of the subject tree 10 months before the incident responding to *another* fallen cottonwood, but did nothing to inspect the subject tree even though it had visible signs of decay at that time; and
- Five days before the incident, the County knew three cottonwood trees fell within blocks of the subject tree, but the County did not inspect those trees to determine why they fell or if there was an issue with cottonwoods in the area.

Notwithstanding these numerous warning signs, the County did nothing. Seemingly ignoring the extensive evidence (much of which is undisputed) presented on summary judgment, the trial court and Court of Appeals improperly analogized this matter to the Supreme Court case of *Albin v. Nat'l Bank of Commerce of Seattle* wherein the plaintiffs presented *no evidence* that "the tree which fell was any more dangerous than any one of

2

¹ Deidra Clark's other daughter, R.E.A., was not directly involved in the incident.

the thousands of trees which line our mountain roads, and no circumstances from which constructive notice might be inferred." This is not such a case, and the trial court and Court of Appeals' reliance on *Albin* was in error.

Instead, this matter poses the question: how many trees had to fall over roadways in Petitioners' densely populated neighborhood, how many years did this tree have to sit rotting with visible fungal conks, how far did it have to lean over the right-of-way before King County had a duty to act? At a minimum, the evidence presented by Petitioners was sufficient to create genuine issues of material fact as to whether the County had actual or constructive notice that cottonwood trees lining the streets of the neighborhood, including the subject tree, were falling and posed a danger to drivers and pedestrians. Because the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter represents a significant departure from its prior decisions and runs contrary to this Court's decision in *Albin*, the summary dismissal of Petitioners' negligence claims should be reversed.

II. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Whether Petitioners' extensive evidence of actual notice, constructive notice and foreseeability should have been sufficient to overcome summary judgment and presented to the jury as questions of fact.
- 2. Whether Petitioners' expert's opinions should have been stricken as speculative despite them being grounded in undisputed evidence.
- 3. Whether, in the event this Court reverses the dismissal of Petitioners' negligence claim, this Court should remand this matter to the

Court of Appeals for a ruling on Petitioner DeVoe's NIED claims.²

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Deidra Clark Was Killed By a Fallen Tree While Driving on a County Right-of-Way.</u>

On November 13, 2017, Deidra Clark was driving home through her neighborhood in King County, Washington.³ Deidra Clark's twin sister, Deirtra, was in the front passenger seat of the vehicle. Deidra's four-year-old daughter, A.M.C., was strapped into her child safety seat in the rear driver side seat.⁴ As Deidra slowed to make a left turn near her house, a severely diseased black cottonwood tree with clear and obvious signs of decay that was leaning dangerously over SE 179th Street snapped almost in half.⁵ The top portion of the tree smashed directly down on top of the car The impact killed Deidra.⁶ Deidra's twin sister, Deirtra Clark, suffered serious injuries as a result of the tree fall, including concussion, traumatic brain injury, multiple spinal fractures, and third degree friction burns on her hands and arms (caused by the tree impacting her body), Deidra's daughter, A.M.C., survived the impact of the tree smashing through the vehicle, but she witnessed first-hand the death of her mother and suffering of her aunt in the front seat.⁷

² Petitioners do not include argument on this issue, but merely ask this Court to remand the issue to the Court of Appeals subject to this Court's ruling on the negligence claim.

³ ¶¶ 4.1-4.6 of 4th Amended Complaint (subject to Motion to Supplement the Record); *see also* CP 107-109.

⁴ *Id*.

⁵ *Id*.

⁶ *Id*.

⁷ *Id*.

B. The Cottonwood Was Located in a Well-Developed Residential Neighborhood Along a County Street and at a Metro Bus Stop.

Unlike the county road in *Albin*, the tree that killed Ms. Clark was not located along some remote county road in the mountains. Rather, it was located in the Fairwood neighborhood of Renton at the intersection of SE 179th Street and 159th Ave SE. The stem of the tree originated on a small parcel of land known as "Tract B" immediately adjacent to SE 179th Street. The tree "snapped about fifteen feet up from the ground" and "fell completely across [SE 179th Street] from the south side to the north." The tree "struck and damaged trees on the north side of [SE 179th St]," immediately adjacent to the playground. Survey data reveals that hundreds of vehicles travel SE 179th Street every day. The tree was also located approximately ten feet from Metro Bus Stop No. 59566 ("Bus Stop").

C. <u>The Cottonwood Was Leaning Significantly and Had Visible</u> Signs of Decay For Several Years.

The subject tree was a black cottonwood tree that was 26.2 inches in diameter and approximately 95 feet tall when it snapped. Petitioners' retained certified arborist, Galen Wright, inspected the remaining stem on December 4, 2017. Wright reported the following observations: (1) decayed wood was visible at the break point at the time of the failure, (2) "at least 3 conks of a stem decay fungi were present above 6 feet and visible to anyone who examined the tree"; and (3) he noticed those fungal conks "within minutes" of walking up to the tree. ¹⁰ The presence of these fungal conks in

⁸ CP 485 (Sheriff's Report).

⁹ CP 487-492 (Axle Classification Report).

¹⁰ CP 494. See also CP 517 and 515 (Wright Dep. 49:23-50:17; 29:19-21).

three separate locations on the tree were "easily visible" to anyone who looked in the direction of the tree. Wright opined the fungal conks were visible and present on the tree for six to twelve years.¹¹

During his inspection, Wright observed the remaining stem leaned to the north toward the right-of-way and the Bus Stop, making the probability of the tree striking the road and other targets obvious. The lean of the tree was significant enough (at least 15-20 degrees) to put the crown and a portion of the stem over the right-of-way. 12 The tree's lean onto the right-of-way is significant because, as Wright testified, any trained individual would have noticed the lean during a basic "ISA Level 1" inspection. The County's arborist, James Kotarski, who is also serving as its expert witness, inspected the remaining stem on December 13, 2017. Kotarski's "inspection" was limited to visually observing the stem for "a few minutes" while standing along SE 179th Street about ten feet away from the stem. 13 Even from this distance, Kotarski observed the fungal conk from ten feet away while standing on the King County right-of-way. 14 Kotarski also agreed with Wright that the tree was leaning north toward SE 179th Street at the time it failed. ¹⁵ According to Wright, there were at least five separate indicators present before the incident that should have caused the County to examine and remove the tree: (1) the lean over the bus stop

¹¹ CP 515 and 526 (Wright Dep. 29:6-18; 159:18-23).

¹² CP 519 and 522 (Wright Dep. 65:24-67:5; 92:6-12).

¹³ CP 550 (Kotarski Dep. 114:12-21).

¹⁴ CP 550 (Kotarski Dep. 113:12-24).

¹⁵ CP 224 (Kotarski Decl. at ¶ 28).

and SE 179th Street; (2) the fungal conks visible on the lower stem; (3) the species of the tree—black cottonwood—is prone to failures even in non-storm conditions; (4) the visible root decay and bark separation; and (5) the recent cottonwood failure at the same location. Despite these warning signs, the County allowed this leaning and diseased tree to line a County road for years.

D. The County Admits It Was Aware Cottonwoods Are More Susceptible to Rot, Disease, and Failure.

The County had prior knowledge that cottonwoods (known as "weed trees")¹⁷ were inherently dangerous trees that could threaten the public. In fact, Kotarski readily admitted cottonwoods are, by nature, a "short-lived species of tree" that are more susceptible to rot, disease, branch failure, and crown failure.¹⁸ He explained the presence of fungal conks would be *more concerning* to him if located on a cottonwood tree because they are "weaker structurally" and "poor compartmentalizers of disease."¹⁹

E. <u>The County's Flawed Process for Identifying and Removing Hazardous Trees Relies Primarily on Untrained Individuals.</u>

Instead of having its own trained arborist look for hazardous trees posing a threat to the rights-of-way, the County relies *exclusively* on citizen calls to its "24/7 Road Helpline." Tony Ledbetter, the Operations Manager for the County Roads Services Department, testified the County relies on the "subjective opinion" of untrained members of the public who are

¹⁶ CP 498 (Wright Report).

¹⁷ CP 539 (Kotarski Dep. 52:5-8).

¹⁸ CP 539-540 (Kotarski Dep. 52:9-54:1).

¹⁹ CP 539 (Kotarski Dep. 50:14-52:4).

"driving down the road [who] see something that doesn't look right."²⁰ If an individual never reports a hazardous tree, the County never inspects or removes the tree. The inherent flaw in the County's process is that those people "driving down the road" are most likely not arborists and may not realize a tree poses a threat.

F. The County Knew Another Cottonwood Fell in Tract B Just Months Before the Subject Incident, But It Did Nothing.

The subject incident was not the first time a cottonwood tree fell in Tract B. On January 20, 2017, less than ten months before the subject incident, *another* leaning cottonwood located in Tract B, approximately 30-40 feet from the subject tree, fell into SE 179th Street.²¹ County service records regarding the incident show the County responded to that tree fall.²² Rather than refer the failed tree to Kotarski for inspection to determine why the tree fell, whether it was diseased, or whether other cottonwoods in the immediate vicinity (including the subject tree) were susceptible to a similar failure onto the County right-of-way, the County did *nothing*. ²³ Wright testified that the County's inaction violated a basic tenant of tree risk assessment that when there is a failure, adjacent trees need to be examined to ensure they are not susceptible to a similar failure. ^{24, 25} Unfortunately, an adjacent cottonwood did experience a similar failure ten months later.

²⁰ CP 578 (Ledbetter Dep. 79:14-19).

²¹ CP 521 (Wright Dep. 74:17-20).

²² CP 506-508 (Service Request 18546).

²³ CP 598 (DePriest Dep. 105:5-106:1).

²⁴ CP 523-524 (Wright Dep. 109:13-25; 116:11-14).

²⁵ CP 524-525 (Wright Dep. 116:15-24: 117:18-21).

G. The County Knew There Was a Recorded History of Falling Trees Near the Same Location, But It Did Nothing.

Even when the County was aware a specific location had a pattern of repeated tree falls, it did nothing to determine the cause of those failures or whether there was a broader systemic issue. ²⁶ Specifically, in addition to the January 20, 2017 cottonwood tree fall within Tract B, the County was also aware of two other tree fall incidents that occurred at the same intersection near the subject incident. Unfortunately, the County chose not to even dispatch its arborist to investigate those tree falls. On October 16, 2016, a tree fell onto SE Petrovitsky Road, a road Kotarski described as a "major arterial," which was 0.6 miles away from the subject incident.²⁷ Because that tree had already fallen, it was coded as "Vegetation in Roadway" and the County did not dispatch its arborist. Thus, the County knew nothing about the circumstances of that tree fall. ²⁸ Then, less than four months later, on February 2, 2017, a second tree fell across Petrovitsky Road at the *exact same location* as the October tree fall.²⁹ The County's arborist was never dispatched and has no knowledge regarding what occurred, why it occurred, or whether there was a broader problem along public rights-of-way in the vicinity.³⁰

H. The County Knew Three Cottonwoods Fell Blocks From the Subject Tree Five Days Before the Incident, But It Did Nothing.

²⁶ CP 548 (Kotarski Dep. 106:6-13).

²⁷ CP 672 (Ledbetter Supp. Dec. at ¶¶ 5 and 6).

²⁸ CP 613 (Service Request 16964).

²⁹ CP 615-616 (Service Request 24466).

³⁰ CP 543-544 (Kotarski Dep. 76:11-79:7).

Just five days before the subject incident, three additional cottonwood trees fell onto the County right-of-way near the intersection of SE Petrovitsky Road and 151st Ave SE (a few blocks from the subject incident) on the evening of November 8, 2017.³¹ Those fallen trees were the exact same species of tree that killed Deidra a few days later.³² The County ignored this incident entirely. Rather than refer the trees to Kotarski, the County simply cleared the fallen cottonwoods from the road and recycled the remains.^{33, 34} Although the County was fortunate the cottonwoods that fell on November 8, 2017 did not kill anyone, it was not as fortunate five days later.

IV. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Court of Appeals Erred In Affirming the Trial Court's Summary Dismissal of Petitioners' Negligence Claim.

Decisions on summary judgment are reviewed *de novo*. *McCaulley* v. *Dep't of Labor & Indus. of Washington*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 304, 424 P.3d 221, 225 (2018) (citing *Pearson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 164 Wn. App. 426, 431, 262 P.3d 837 (2011)). Summary judgment is only proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). Here, genuine issues of material fact remain as to whether the County was on notice of the dangerous condition at issue, and whether the dangerous condition was foreseeable.

³¹ CP 615-616 (Service Request 24466).

 $^{^{32}}$ Id

³³ CP 596 (DePriest Dep. 85:1-7).

³⁴ CP 597 (DePriest Dep. 89:18-90:2).

1. The County Has a Duty to Maintain Its Roadways in a Condition Reasonably Safe for Ordinary Travel.

Washington courts generally hold municipalities to the same negligence standard as private individuals. *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 242–43, 44 P.3d 845 (2002). Here, the County had a duty "to maintain its roadways in a condition safe for ordinary travel." *See Owen v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R. Co.*, 153 Wn.2d 780, 786-787, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005). This duty required the County to take reasonable steps to correct hazardous conditions that made a roadway unsafe, including hazardous conditions created by roadside vegetation. *Wuthrich v. King Cty.*, 185 Wn.2d 19, 27, 366 P.3d 926 (2006).

2. Significant Issues of Fact Exist That Should Have Been Reserved for the Jury.

A county is liable to the users of its roads upon it having notice, either actual or constructive, of the dangerous condition which caused injury, *or* if the danger was one the county should have foreseen and guarded against. *Nguyen v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn. App. 155, 165-166, 317 P.3d 518 (2014). Although the existence of a legal duty is a question of law, "where duty depends on proof of certain facts that may be disputed, summary judgment is inappropriate." *Afoa v. Port of Seattle*, 160 Wn. App. 234, 238, 247 P.3d 482 (2011). Washington courts have repeatedly held that issues of notice and foreseeability are *issues of fact* to be decided by a jury. *Pratt v. Water Dist. No. 79*, 58 Wn.2d 420, 426, 363 P.2d 420 (1961) (actual notice is an issue of fact); *O'Neill v. City of Port Orchard*, 194 Wn. App. 759, 774, 375 P.3d 709 (2016) (constructive notice is an issue of fact);

Iwai v. State, Employment Security Department, 129 Wn.2d 84, 101-102, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996) (whether a dangerous condition was foreseeable is an issue of fact). There is substantial evidence the County had actual and constructive notice of the dangerous condition that killed Ms. Clark or, at the very least, that the County should have foreseen the dangerous condition. This evidence is sufficient to create genuine issues of material fact that preclude summary judgment.

a. Whether the County Was on Actual Notice Is an Issue of Fact.

To establish actual notice, Petitioners must present evidence that the County had actual knowledge of the "unsafe condition." *Pimentel v. Roundup Co.*, 100 Wn.2d 39, 49, 666 P.2d 888 (1983). While the County claims to have been unaware that the specific cottonwood that killed Ms. Clark posed a risk, the County *did know* that black cottonwoods lining County streets, including the subject tree, were at heightened risk of failure, *did know* that another black cottonwood within 30-40 feet of the subject tree fell at the same intersection just ten months prior, and *did know* that in 13 months leading up to the incident, at least six trees fell over County roads in the vicinity of where Ms. Clark was killed. The County *knew* that five days prior to Ms. Clark's death, three cottonwoods fell within a few blocks of the subject incident. The County had *actual knowledge* cottonwoods were creating unsafe conditions along public rights-of-way in a well-developed residential neighborhood, yet it chose to ignore that knowledge. This notice goes beyond constructive notice and creates genuine issues of

material fact as to whether the County had actual knowledge of the "unsafe condition" posed by cottonwoods in this neighborhood.

b. Whether the County Was on Constructive Notice Is an Issue of Fact.

At the very least, issues of material fact exist as to whether there was constructive notice. "Constructive notice arises where the defective condition has existed for such time that a municipality in exercising ordinary care would have discovered the defective roadway condition." O'Neill v. City of Port Orchard, 194 Wn. App. 759, 773-774, 375 P.3d 709 (2016). What constitutes ordinary (or reasonable) care in a given circumstance is an issue of fact for the jury. Laudermilk v. Carpenter, 78 Wn.2d 92, 97, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969). Here, a jury could conclude: (i) the tree was in a dangerous, diseased state for long enough that; (ii) had the County exercised ordinary care, then; (iii) it would have discovered the dangerous condition.

i. The Defect in the Tree Existed for 6-12 Years.

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