FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/3/2021 3:31 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100197-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEIRTRA WILLIAMS, ET AL.,

Petitioner,

v.

KING COUNTY, ET AL.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT KING COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

John R. Zeldenrust, WSBA No. 19797 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent King County King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 477-1120

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

B. The King County Road Services Division Never Received any Notice of the Tree or its Alleged Defects.

King County has a Road Services Division (RSD) that is responsible for all county roads, bridges, and related infrastructure in unincorporated King County. CP 163. Its area of responsibility includes about 1500 miles of roads and bridges supporting more than one million trips daily. CP 163. There is no known record of RSD ever receiving a complaint about the black cottonwood tree that fell in this case prior to the accident date - November 13, 2017. CP 217; 323. The intersection where

the accident occurred is a surburban residential street in the Candlewood Ridge development with no history as a high-accident location. CP 217.

RSD has ten "planning units" having specialized functions, one of which is a "tree of concern" program. *See* CP 214. A "tree of concern" is a standing tree on or near a county roadway that may pose a hazard to a roadway. CP 215. RSD maintains a "Road Helpline" that allows citizens, county employees, and "partner agencies" (such as the King County Sheriff's Office) to raise concerns about county roadways, including "trees of concern." CP 214-215. While plaintiffs contend that the County's reliance on "untrained members of the public" to report concerns is inherently flawed (PFR at 8, 15), municipalities routinely rely on such citizen complaints for notice of roadway hazards. This is appropriate as "[t]here is no common law,

¹ Nguyen v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.App. 155, 171 (2014) ("To report unsafe or defective trees, SDOT provides an email address and telephone number on its website" and receives complaints "from citizens, public utilities, police, and street

statutory, or regulatory authority requiring a municipality to inspect its street infrastructure as a component of its duty to provide streets that are reasonably safe for ordinary travel."

Nguyen v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.App. 155, 171 (2014).

When notified of a tree of concern, RSD Customer Service Specialists first determine if the tree impacts a county road. CP 214. If it does, RSD dispatches personnel to investigate. *See* CP 214-215. RSD employs an arborist – known as a "vegetation specialist" – who assesses the risk of "trees of concern" located near county roads. CP 215. If the vegetation specialist recommends removal of a tree, RSD typically hires a contractor

users, including King County Metro. . . "); *Almo v. City of Seattle*, 174 Wn.App. 1015, 2013 WL 1164408 *1 (2013) ("the City does not routinely inspect sidewalks but relies on citizens, including property owners with property adjacent to public places, to report unsafe conditions.); *Albin v. National Bank of Commerce of Seattle*, 60 Wn.2d 745, 748 (1962), quoting *Mead v. Chelan County*, 112 Wash. 97, 191 P. 825 (1920) ("the commissioners could not be required to give [the road] constant or even frequent inspection, but might rely upon the users of the road, or those living in the neighborhood, to give them notice of any unusual conditions which would render the road unsafe.").

to handle the removal. CP 215. For trees located on private property, RSD may contact the property owner to correct the concern. CP 216. RSD employees ordinarily do not enter private property to examine or remove trees or vegetation. CP 216.

The phrase "tree of concern" refers to trees that are still standing – trees that have already fallen are usually coded as "vegetation in the roadway." CP 216. The County's arborist ("vegetation specialist") does not inspect all downed trees ("vegetation in roadway"), and there is no known authority or standard requiring such inspections. CP 216. When trees obstruct the road or county right of way, Road crews are dispatched to remove the debris. CP 216. Roads crews are expected to use common sense and report obvious roadway hazards, but they do not inspect trees and they do not receive arboricultural training. CP 216. Plaintiffs cite no local, state, or national standard requiring Roads crew members to have arboricultural training or to search trees for hidden decay. CP 216.

RSD records reflect one service request for the intersection – placed in January 2017. CP 217; 507. An RSD crew chief,
Terry DePriest, went out to look at what was described as a fallen "small dead tree." *Id.* Because the tree was located off the roadway, he took no further action. *Id.* And on November 8,
2017, RSD received a service request concerning downed trees over a half-mile away from the accident site on Petrovitsky Road.
CP 672.

Contrary to plaintiffs' contentions (*see* PFR at 8), the evidence does not show that the tree which fell on January 20, 2017 was located in "Tract B" about "30-40 feet from the subject tree." The service request for the January 20, 2017 incident does not state whether the tree was on the south side of SE 179th Street (where "Tract B" is located) or the north side. *See* "Appendix A" (showing "Tract B" on south side of SE 179th Street); CP 507 (service request for January 20, 2017 tree fall). And there is no evidence regarding concerning the type of tree that fell, or whether it was leaning or diseased.

C. The Tree's Concealed Decay was not Readily Visible from the County Right of Way, and the Significance of any Decay Would not have Been Apparent to a Layperson.

After the accident, James Kotarski, King County RSD's arborist ("vegetation specialist") visually inspected the remaining snag of the cottonwood tree. CP 223. Because he believed the snag to be located on private property, he observed it from the sidewalk (about 10.5 feet away), which is part of the right-of-way administered by King County. CP 223. What he saw was a snag covered with English Ivy. CP 223; "Appendix B" (photo of remaining snag). After several minutes of close observation he also saw a "conk" (or fungal fruiting body) on the southwest side of the snag. CP 223. Such conks can indicate decay that structurally weakens the trunk of a tree. CP 224.

According to Kotarski, the conk would not have been easily visible to a passerby on the sidewalk or street. And even if the conk had been spotted by a layperson having no arboricultural training, s/he would not understand that the conk could signal

hidden decay. See CP 225. Kotarski believed the tree likely failed due to hidden decay, at the point of failure on the tree trunk, in combination with high winds at the time of the accident. CP 224. It was early in the windy season and the tree had leaves, which would have acted as a sail, putting more stress on the trunk. CP 224. The presence of leaves also indicates the tree was alive and would not have appeared dead or dying to a casual observer. See CP 224-225; 430 ("there were still leaves on the canopy of the tree, indicating that it was still alive.").

D. <u>Plaintiffs' Expert, Galen Wright, Could Only See</u> the Conks during a Close Up Inspection of the Tree, and He Agreed that Other Signs of Decay Could not be Observed from the County Right of Way.

Plaintiffs retained an expert arborist, Galen Wright, who entered Tract B on December 4, 2017 to inspect what remained of the tree. *See* CP 515. In his April 2019 report, Wright identified the tree as a Black Cottonwood about 26.2 inches in diameter. CP 495. Wright estimated that the tree broke at a height of 12 feet above the groundline (CP 495) on HOA

property (Tract B) (CP 517), and he saw decayed wood at the breaking point. CP 495. The stem of the tree was still partially covered by English Ivy. CP 497. Wright stated that three small (CP 526) "conks" of stem decay fungi were present at some distance "above six feet." CP 495. He also observed some decay in one "lateral root anchor" and some bark separation just above the "root collar." CP 498.

Wright's photos of the "conks" (*see* CP 317-319 and "Appendix C") only show them from close-up, about an arm's length away from the tree (CP 515), while on private property (Tract B) belonging to the HOA. CP 517. There are no known photographs showing whether the conks would have been visible from the right of way (sidewalk).

Wright concluded that, had a "level one" inspection been done of the tree by a person walking on the sidewalk or driving by the tree, a number of factors would have triggered a closer inspection of the tree (i.e. a "level 2" inspection). *See* CP 498. He identified these factors as (1) an "obvious lean" of the tree

over the bus stop; (2) the "conks" on the bark of the tree's lower stem; (3) the visible root decay and bark separation; (4) the tendency of Black Cottonwoods to fail even in non-storm conditions, and (5) the recent (January 2017) failure of a nearby Cottonwood tree. CP 498. The tree's defects, Wright believed, could have been detected "by a qualified arborist or forester working for the HOA or King County." CP 502.

Wright also claimed that the January 2017 Cottonwood failure "should have stimulated a review of other trees in the vicinity," and that had this been done, it is likely the defects in the tree would have been seen. CP 498. The same type of review, Wright believed, should have been done after two other Black Cottonwood failures on November 8, 2017 – one week before the accident. CP 498. Wright concluded that the tree in this accident fell primarily due to the fungal decay, the tree's lean, and the "wind event of whatever magnitude." CP 518.

Wright was unable to cite any treatise or other authority stating that a tree failure in one area should trigger an

examination of other trees in the area (CP 524), nor was he able to say how far from a failed tree any such inspections should cover. *See* CP 524-525. Wright acknowledged that he inspected the remains of the subject tree from a distance of one-to-three feet (a "level 2" inspection), and that he did not notice the conks immediately. *See* CP 515 (Wright first noticed the conks "within minutes" of walking up to the tree.).

Wright took no measurements of how much the tree leaned, so he was unable to say at what height the tree stem may have crossed the plane of the right-of-way. CP 519. Wright agreed that the missing bark he noted would not have been visible from the roadway, nor would the root defects he identified. CP 521. He also acknowledged that there are thousands of trees along the 1500 miles of county roads that lean toward the roadway (CP 521), and the evidence indicates trees naturally lean toward the roadway to capture more sunlight. *See* CP 429.

E. <u>Plaintiffs' contentions regarding other tree falls in</u> the area misstate the evidence in the record.

As part of their "constructive notice" claim, Plaintiffs maintain that "On October 16, 2016, a tree fell onto SE Petrovitsky Road" which was ".6 miles away from the subject incident." PFR at 9. But their citation to "CP 672" for that proposition says nothing about a tree fall on October 16, 2016; rather, that portion of the record discusses a tree fall on November 8, 2017. Plaintiffs next allege that "less than four months later, on February 2, 2017, a second tree fell across Petrovitsky Road at the exact same location as the October tree fall." PFR at 9. But their citation to "CP 615-616" says nothing about a February 2017 tree fall. Instead, again, the service request at CP 615-616 refers to the tree falls that occurred .6 miles away from the subject tree on November 8, 2017.

Finally, plaintiffs allege that three additional cottonwood trees fell onto the County right of way "a few blocks" from the subject tree on November 8, 2017. PFR at 10. This time they accurately cite to the service request for this incident, which

appears at CP 615-616. But these trees were not "a few blocks away" as plaintiffs contend – they were actually over a half-amile away. CP 672.

Plaintiffs falsely contend that the county "ignored this incident entirely" (PFR at 10) when, in reality, a Roads crew quickly came out to clear the roadway. CP 615-616. Finally, plaintiffs appear to contend that the November 8, 2017 incident should have caused the county (1) to immediately inspect every tree within a .6 mile radius, (2) locate the tree that fell in this case, and (3) remove it, all before the November 13, 2017 accident. But municalities must have notice and a reasonable opportunity to cure the unsafe roadway conditions. See Helmbreck v. McPhee, 15 Wn.App.2d 41, 50 (2020). The November 8, 2017 tree falls did not provide the County with notice that the subject tree .6 miles away was defective, nor did it provide a reasonable amount of time to search, locate, and remove the tree.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Plaintiffs do not dispute the legal principles the Court of Appeals applied in analyzing this case. *See* COA opinion, at 10-17. Municipalities have a duty to maintain their roads so that they are reasonably safe for ordinary travel. *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249 (2002). The duty is conditional, however, and arises only when the municipality has notice of and time to correct the hazard in question. *Helmbrck v. McPhee*, 15 Wn.App.2d 41, 50 (2020).

Accordingly, the government must have notice of a dangerous condition which it did not create, and a reasonable opportunity to correct it before liability attaches. *See id*. The notice may be actual or constructive. *Id*. Constructive notice may be inferred when a known dangerous condition is permitted to continue. *See id*.

A. <u>Issues of actual and/or constructive notice may be</u> determined as a matter of law.

Plaintiffs complain that questions of actual notice,

constructive notice, foreseeability, and what constitutes "reasonable care" are fact questions that the Court of Appeals erroneously determined as a matter of law. See PFR at 11-15. In this case, however, the Court of Appeals properly determined that plaintiffs failed to produce sufficient evidence "to create a genuine issue of material fact" showing that the County was on actual or constructive notice of the alleged dangerous condition of the subject tree. COA decision, at 15. Courts may properly decide questions of actual and/or constructive notice as a matter of law. See Havens v. C&D Plastics, Inc., 124 Wn.2d 158, 181 (1994) ("when reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion, questions of fact may be determined as a matter of law."); Niebarger v. City of Seattle, 53 Wn.2d 228, 230 (1958) (constructive notice determined as a matter of law).

B. <u>Plaintiffs fail to show the Court's decision in this case conflicts with any decision of this Court or any published Court of Appeals decision.</u>

Plaintiffs assert that the facts of *Albin v. National Bank of Commerce of Seattle*, 60 Wn.2d 745 (1962) "could not be more

different than the case at bar." PFR at 16. In *Albin*, a car was struck by a falling tree during a wind storm, killing one occupant and injuring the other. 60 Wn.App. at 747. This happened on a rural Columbia County road, in a wooded area, that saw its major use during hunting season. *Id*. The tree fell from private timber land onto the car traveling on the county road. *Id*.

The trial court dismissed defendant Columbia County because it did not have notice of the dangerous tree next to its road. *Id.* at 748. The Supreme Court upheld that dismissal, and in the absence of actual notice, reasoned that it can "of course, be foreseen that trees will fall across tree-lined roads;" but short of cutting a tree-length-wide swath along the entire length of such roads, there was no way of safeguarding against the danger. *Id.* at 748-49. The Court went on to note that "this is neither practical, nor desirable" and that the "financial burden would be unreasonable, in comparison with the risk involved." *Id.* While certainly there are factual differences between *Albin* and the present case, the cases are not in conflict, and plaintiffs make no

claim that they are. Thus, a comparison of *Albin* with this case provides no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Plaintiffs next contend that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Conine v. County of Snohomish, 138 Wn.App. 1039, 2007 WL 1398846 (Div. I 2007). See PFR at 17. Their citation of *Conine* is improper because it is an unpublished decision issued six years before March 1, 2013. See GR 14.1. And while review may be warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) where a Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another *published* decision of the Court of Appeals, that criteria is not satisfied here because *Conine* is an unpublished, non-precedential decision. Moreover, the Court's decision here does not conflict with Conine. In that case, the Court found a fact issue regarding the State's constructive notice because the evidence showed that the tree, which was adjacent to a state highway, "was obviously dead or dying and leaning for two years, ...". Conine, 2007 WL 1398846 *5. In this case, there were no "obvious" signs that the tree was dead or dying. See CP 224; 430-431.

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